IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

MELISSA WINTER

APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO. 2007-WC-01717-COA

WAL-MART SUPERCENTER
AND
AMERICAN HOME ASSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons or entities have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Melissa Winter, Appellant, 701 Martin Street, Tupelo, MS 38804;
- 2. Wal-Mart Supercenter, Appellee;
- 3. American Home Assurance Company, Appellee;

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Did the Workers' Compensation Commission and Union County Circuit Court err when it declined to reopen and reinstate Mrs. Winter's case for a full hearing on the merits under the following facts and circumstances:

- 1. Mrs. Winter's claim was dismissed for failure to file a completed pre-hearing statement;
- 2. During the pendency of her claim, Mrs. Winter's original Attorney be came ill and unfortunately passed away;
- 3. Wal-Mart failed to file its Answer to Mrs. Winter's Petition to Controvert until requested by the Commission;
- 4. Wal-Mart failed to file a B-31 until more than five (5) months following the request for the same from the Commission;
- 5. Wal-Mart's B-31 was erroneous in that it represented the last date of paid benefits to or for Mrs. Winter was November 2002, when in fact Wal-Mart paid benefits for and on behalf of Mrs. Winter through July 2004;
- 6. Mrs. Winter justifiably and to her detriment relied on Wal-Mart's continued payment of benefits via payment of doctor bills and prescription medicines filled by the Wal-Mart pharmacy; and
- 7. At the time Mrs. Winter's claim was dismissed, Mrs. Winter's medical treatment was continuing and ongoing?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Union County Circuit Court affirming the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission denying Claimant's Motion to Reinstate.

A Petition to Controvert on behalf of Claimant (hereinafter "Mrs. Winter") was received by the Workers' Compensation Commission on July 3, 2002, and an Amended Petition to Controvert was filed on September 23, 2002, both relative to Claimant's back, hip and leg injuries. (RE5-13; R1-9 of the records for the Compensation Commission) Only after a request from the Commission, an Answer was filed by the employer and carrier (hereinafter "Wal-Mart") on October 21, 2002, wherein it was admitted that Mrs. Winter has sustained an injury while an employee and while performing service growing out of and in the course of employment. However, Wal-Mart disputed the extent of Mrs. Winter's injuries and her average weekly wage. (RE14-17; R10-13)

In paragraph 7 of Wal-Mart's Answer, affirmatively set forth was the defense of estoppel, thereby acknowledging the doctrine of estoppel and its appropriate applicability to workers' compensation cases. (RE16, ¶7; R12)

On September 19, 2003, Mrs. Winter filed her second pre-hearing statement with the Commission, asserting that she was ready to proceed to a hearing. (R19-24) Thereafter, on October 23, 2003, Wal-Mart filed its pre-hearing statement. (R25-30)

On November 10, 2003, on the initiative of the Administrative Law Judge, Mrs. Winter's claim was dismissed for failure to file a completed pre-hearing statement. (RE18; R31)

On December 10, 2003, the Commission requested from Wal-Mart the filing of a form B-31, however, the B-31 was not received and filed by the Commission until May 26, 2004.

(RE19; R32)

While Mrs. Winter's case was pending, unfortunately, her original attorney, Mr. Roy Farrell, became ill and died.

Mrs. Winter employed undersigned counsel on September 3, 2004. (RE26; R57) As soon as Mrs. Winter's voluminous file was received, a Motion to Reopen and Reinstate and Place on Docket was filed on her behalf on October 27, 2004. (RE20-25; R33-38) Mrs. Winter filed an Amended Motion on December 8, 2004. (RE38-40; R49-51) An Amended Pre-hearing Statement was filed by Mrs. Winter on March 4, 2005. (RE41-44; R59-62)

On March 9, 2005, the Administrative Law Judge entered an Order denying Mrs.

Winter's Motion and Amended Motion to Reopen and Reinstate and Place on Docket. (RE27-28; R63-64) Claimant would note that the hearing relative to her Motion was held via telephone, that is, Mrs. Winters was not present before the Administrative Law Judge to offer testimony. In fact, Mrs. Winters would affirmatively state that to date she has yet been permitted before any Judge on the merits.

From that Order, Mrs. Winter petitioned for a full Commission Hearing, which was held on June 27, 2005. (R65-66) On December 16, 2005, the Workers' Compensation Full Commission entered an Order affirming the order of the Administrative Law Judge. (RE32-37; R82-87) From that Order, Mrs. Winter appealed to the Honorable Circuit Court of Union County, from which issued an Order Affirming the Full Commission. (RE2) Thereafter, Mrs. Winter appealed to this Honorable Supreme Court of Mississippi. (RE3-4)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mrs. Winter indisputably suffered compensatory work-related injuries on June 30, 2000, and on February 25, 2002. Wal-Mart has admitted these as work-related, compensable injuries.

Fortunately, following Mrs. Winter's first injury on June 30, 2000, she recovered enough to return to work. However, Mrs. Winter was unfortunately never to return to work following her injury on February 25, 2002.

Mrs. Winter attempted to diligently pursue her claim, all the while continuing treatment for her injuries. At all relevant times, a completed pre-hearing statement was and would have been premature. That notwithstanding, Mrs. Winter's claim was promptly dismissed for failure to file a completed pre-hearing statement.

Wal-Mart has throughout been dilatory in filing its required documents. The Commission had to request Wal-Mart's Answer to Mrs. Winter's Petition to Controvert, as well as the filing of the B-31. Wal-Mart did not file the B-31 until over five (5) months after it was requested by the Commission. Even when it was filed, it was incomplete and incorrect in that it states the last benefit payments were in November 2002, when in fact Wal-Mart continued to pay benefits for and on behalf of Mrs. Winter through July 2004.

Applying the theory of estoppel, the spirit of the Workers' Compensation Act, and plain old justice, Mrs. Winter's claim should be reconsidered, reinstated, and finally provided a hearing on the merits.

ARGUMENT

A. Requirement of Form B-31

Relative to the B-31 Form, Miss. Code Ann. §71-3-37(7) states as follows:

Within thirty (30) days after the final payment has been made, the employer shall send to the commission a notice in accordance with

a form prescribed by the commission, stating that such final payment has been made, the total amount of compensation paid, the name of the employee and of any other person to whom compensation has been paid, the date of the injury or death, and the date to which compensation has been paid. If the employer fails so to notify the commission within such time, the commission may assess against such employer a civil penalty in an amount not exceeding One Hundred Dollard (\$100.00). No case shall be closed nor any penalty be assessed without notice to all parties interested and without giving to all such parties an opportunity to be heard.

Rule 17 of the Workers' Compensation Commission Procedural Rules states as follows:

The requirement for the filing of Commission Form B-31, shall be deemed to have been met upon receipt by the Commission of such form, signed by the claimant, provided however, that the form so filed is in accordance with the requirements of section 71-3-37(7) of the Act and contains the information specified therein. In the event Form B-31 is not signed by claimant, the unsigned form shall be filed with the Commission with notice of such filing thereafter given to the claimant by the employer or carrier by certified mail. Should the original or any subsequent Form B-31 be filed that does not furnish all medical or other information required, another Form B-31 containing complete information shall be filed as soon as possible thereafter as provided in section 71-3-37(7).

The Form B-31 was not filed by Wal-Mart until May 26, 2004, i.e., six (6) months AFTER the entry of the November 10, 2003, Order of dismissal, and then only after being requested by the Commission. (RE19; R32)

In pertinent part, Rule 5 of the Workers' Compensation Commission Procedural Rules states: "Failure of the claimant to timely file the prehearing statement may result in the dismissal of the case or other sanctions." (emphasis added)

Pursuant to Rule 5, Mrs. Winter's claim was promptly dismissed on November 10, 2003, just about 2½ weeks following Wal-Mart's filing of its pre-hearing statement. However, at the time Mrs. Winter's claim was dismissed, Wal-Mart had not complied with Rule 17 and §17-3-37(7) in filing a Form B-31. In fact, Wal-Mart did not file its Form B-31 until May 26, 2004, and

then only after having been requested by the Commission.

Additionally, Wal-Mart's B-31 was incomplete and incorrect. Wal-Mart's B-31 makes the representation that the last benefit payment was 11/05/02, when in fact Wal-Mart continued to pay medical bills and prescription costs for Mrs. Winter through July 2004. (See Exhibit 1 & 2 attached hereto).

B. The Commission's Application of §71-3-37(7) and Rule 5

As noted above, on November 10, 2003, on the initiative of the Administrative Law Judge, Mrs. Winter's claim was dismissed for failing to file a completed pre-hearing statement. This dismissal was entered without notice to Mrs. Winter that her pre-hearing statement was deficient.

Then on December 10, 2003, the Commission had to request the form B-31 from Wal-Mart. Wal-mart did not file the form B-31 until May 26, 2004, over five (5) months later. That notwithstanding, Wal-Mart was assessed no penalty or consequence whatsoever for its failure to comply with Miss. Code Ann. §71-3-37(7). Specifically, Miss. Code Ann. §71-3-37(7) provides that: "Withing thirty (30) days after the final payment of compensation has been made, the employer shall send to the Commission a notice in accordance with the form prescribed by the commission[.]" (emphasis added). Sub-section (7) goes on to provide that: "If the employer fails so to notify the commission within such time, the commission may assess against such employer a civil penalty in an amount not exceeding One Hundred Dollars (\$100.00)." (emphasis added).

Rules of the Mississippi Workmen's Compensation Commission, Procedural Rule 5, states in pertinent part: "Failure of the claimant to timely file the pre-hearing statement may result in the dismissal of the case or other sanctions." (emphasis added).

Mrs. Winter's case was promptly dismissed without ever having been heard on the merits.

This is, of course, the most severe of sanctions for a claimant.

Clearly, the Commission's application of the statutes and rules to Wal-Mart and Mrs. Winter appears on its face to be uneven, in that Mrs. Winter is meted out the severest of sanctions while Wal-Mart is permitted to use the statutory and procedural rule time allocations to their exclusive benefit.

C. Continued Payments by Wal-Mart

Mrs. Winter was obviously diligently attempting to comply with the rule requirement of a completed pre-hearing statement. All the while, she was continuing to receive medical treatment and Wal-Mart was continuing to pay for such treatment, thereby rendering a completed pre-hearing statement premature. Inasmuch as Wal-Mart continued to make medical and prescription payments for and on behalf of Mrs. Winter, as evidenced by the attached Exhibits "1" and "2," this evidence cannot possibly have been unknown or prejudicial to Wal-Mart. It is particularly telling that all of Mrs. Winter's prescriptions were provided by the Wal-Mart pharmacy.

Further, Wal-Mart's Form B-31 makes misrepresentations, in that medical payments and prescription payments continued significantly beyond the represented date of November 5, 2002, causing Mrs. Winter to rely, in good faith and to her detriment, on the actions of Wal-Mart, as clearly evidenced by the posture she is currently in, i.e., having to appeal her case even to the Mississippi Supreme Court/Court of Appeals. That is, Wal-Mart continued to pay medical benefits for and on behalf of Mrs. Winter relative to her work-related injury following the November 10, 2003, Order dismissing Mrs. Winter's claim, and yet subsequently attempts to bar Mrs. Winter's claim pursuant to that order. See Broadway v. International Paper, 982 So.2d

1010 (Miss. 2008) for a holding that the employer's continued payment for prescription drugs tolled the one-year statute of limitations.

D. Estoppel

Blacks's Law Dictionary, 6th Edition, defines estoppel:

"Estoppel" means that party is prevented by his own act from claiming a right to detriment of other party who was entitled to rely on such conduct and has acted accordingly. (citation omitted) A principle that provides that an individual is barred from denying or alleging a certain fact or state of facts because of that individual's previous conduct, allegation, or denial. A doctrine which holds that an inconsistent position, attitude or course of conduct may not be adopted to loss or injury of another. (citations omitted)

Estoppel is a bar or impediment which precludes [] denial of a certain fact or state of facts, in consequence of previous [] conduct []...

Estoppel is or may be based on []; actual or constructive fraudulent conduct,...; assumption of position which, if not maintained, would result in injustice to another; ...; conduct or acts amounting to a representation []; ...

Estoppell in pais. The doctrine by which a person may be precluded by his act or conduct, or silence when it is his duty to speak, from asserting a right which he otherwise would have had. (citations omitted)

Black's further defines Representation, estoppel in pertinent part, as:

It arises when one by acts, representations, admissions, or silence when he ought to speak out, intentionally or through culpable negligence induces another to believe certain facts to exist and such other rightfully relies and acts on such belief, so that he will be prejudiced if the former is permitted to deny the existence of such facts. (citations omitted)

It is the effect of voluntary conduct of a party whereby he is absolutely precluded from asserting rights which might perhaps have otherwise existed. (citations omitted) It is a species of "equitable estoppel" or estoppel by matter in pais. Elements or essentials of such estoppel include change of position for the worse, (citation omitted); detriment or injury or prejudice to party claiming estoppel, (citation omitted); express or implied representations; false representation, (citation omitted); ignorance of facts by party claiming estoppel, (citation omitted); inducement to action by party claiming estoppel; intent that other party should act on representation or gross and culpable negligence of party sought to be estopped; knowledge, actual or constructive, of facts by person estopped, (citation omitted); misleading of person claiming estoppel, (citation omitted); reliance of one party on conduct of other party, (citation omitted). The doctrine ordinarily applied only to representation as to past or present facts, (citation omitted).

In defining *In pais, estoppel*, the 6th Edition of Black's Law Dictionary states, inter alia: "Elements or fundamentals of "estoppel in pais" include admission, statement or act inconsistent with claim afterwards asserted[.]" (citation omitted).

In paragraph 7 of Exhibit A to Wal-Mart's Answer to Claimant's Petition to Controvert, Wal-Mart acknowledges the applicability of, and in fact, asserts the doctrine of estoppel as a potential defense relative to previous acts and/or conduct of Mrs. Winter. (RE16-17; R12-13)

In McCrary v. City of Biloxi, 757 So2d 978 (Miss. 2000), before the Mississippi Supreme Court on Writ of Certiorari, Claimant Paul McCrary's case was reversed and remanded to the Mississippi Worker's Compensation Commission based on the doctrine of estoppel. The McCrary court clearly acknowledged the "appli[cation] [of] estoppel to workers' compensation cases in the past." McCrary, 757 So2d 978, 981, (citing Holbrook By and Through Holbrook v. Albright Mobile Homes, Inc., 703 So2d 842 (Miss. 1997)).

The McCrary court noted that the failure of the single act of "fil[ing] the required notice by itself does not prevent the employer from raising the statute of limitations defense, this is a factor to be considered in the overall scheme." Id. @ 982.

In reversing and remanding McCrary, the court

[c]onsider[ed] that the City failed to file the required statutory Notice of Controversy, told McCrary it would file his claim and engaged in settlement negotiations for a substantial period of time, taken in conjunction with the fact that the Workers' Compensation Act is to be liberally and broadly construed in favor of compensation, we find that the City is estopped from asserting the statute of limitations ban in this case. McCrary relied on the City's representations to his detriment in this case. Therefore, the judgments of the Court of Appeals, the circuit court, and the Commission are reversed and this case is remanded to the Mississippi Worker's Compensation Commission for further proceedings consistent with this opinion.

<u>Id</u>.

Effectively, Wal-Mart asserts Mrs. Winter's dilatoriness in asking for review of the Administrative Law Judge's November 10, 2003, Order of Dismissal, yet asks that its lack of diligence in filing its Answer (only after being requested by the Commission) and in filing its incomplete B-31 with erroneous information (and again only after being requested by the Commission) be overlooked and of no consequence. Additionally, and perhaps even more importantly, Wal-Mart asks that it be overlooked and considered of no consequence that its medical benefits for and on behalf of the Claimant, Melissa Winter, remained open and active until February 2005, the last of such payments being made in July 2004. (See Exhibit 2 attached) In fact, Wal-Mart attempts to assert that this evidence is too prejudicial and that even though it was Wal-Mart who made the payments and in fact provided prescriptions from the Wal-Mart Pharmacy, Mrs. Winter's presentation of such evidence has not allowed them sufficient time to meet and defend the same.

Wal-Mart made the payments. They should, therefore, be estopped from asserting lack of knowledge and preclusion of consideration by the Court of Mrs. Winter's ongoing medical treatment at the time of and subsequent to the November 10, 2003, Order of Dismissal.

By continuing to pay medical benefits for and on behalf of Mrs. Winter, Wal-Mart indeed made representations and conducted itself in a way justifiably relied on by Mrs. Winter. Further,

it is obvious that Mrs. Winter has suffered loss as a result of her reliance on the acts and conduct of Wal-Mart.

Additionally, inasmuch as Wal-Mart clearly lacked diligence in strictly complying with the statutes and rules governing workers' compensation cases, they should be estopped from requiring strict and rigid interpretation and application of the same to Mrs. Winter.

Clearly, Wal-Mart seeks to hold Mrs. Winter to the strict interpretation of the letter of law, including statutory law and Worker's Compensation Commission Procedural Rules, while asserting full immunity from strict compliance for itself.

Also, noteworthy pursuant to <u>Broadway v. International Paper</u>, supra, Wal-Mart's continued payment of benefits via medical bills and prescription drugs, tolled the one-year statute for reopening Mrs. Winter's case.

E. "Mistake in Determination of Fact"

Relative to Mrs. Winter's ongoing medical treatment, <u>Waylon Reed v. Horseshoe Casino</u>
& Hotel and Reliance Nat'l Ins. Co., MWCC No. 01-13092-H-2608-A (June 18, 2003), offers on point guidance.

In <u>Reed v. Horseshoe Casino</u>, Mr. Reed's claim was dismissed by the Administrative Law Judge for failure to file a completed pre-hearing statement. Likewise, Mr. Reed's motion to reinstate his case was denied, whereupon he petitioned for a full commission review.

Like Mr. Reed, as clearly indicated by attached Exhibits "1" and "2," Mrs. Winter continued with medical treatment, which Wal-Mart continued to pay for, significantly subsequent to the November 10, 2003, Order of Dismissal.

Therefore, at all relevant times, a pre-hearing statement was premature, as Mrs. Winter continued under a doctor's care and prescription regime which Wal-Mart continued to pay until

notifying Mrs. Winter's doctor around February 2005 and Wal-Mart Pharmacy around August 2004 that they would no longer cover Mrs. Winter's medical and prescription expenses relative to her work-related injury.

Under very similar facts and the "mistake in a determination of fact" provision of <u>Miss.</u>

<u>Code Ann.</u> §71-3-53, the Commission in <u>Reed</u> "held that the Commission has broad discretion to determine whether a mistake has occurred so as to justify further review or reinstatement of a claim." <u>Waylon Reed</u>, MWCC No. 01-13092-H-2608-A, @ *2, referring to <u>Douglas Russell v.</u>

<u>City of Vicksburg & Ins. Co. of the State of Pa.</u>, MWCC No. 98-04704-G-8395 (2003).

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