CAUSE NO. 2007-WC-01717-COA

SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

MELISSA WINTER,

APPELLANT

٧.

WAL-MART SUPERCENTER and AMÉRICAN HOME ASSURANCE COMPANY,

APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF UNION COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEES

Sandra T. Doty (MSB Roxanne P. Case (MSB WILKINS, STEPHENS & TIPTON, P.A. One LeFleur's Square, Suite 108 4735 Old Canton Road (39211) Post Office Box 13429 Jackson, Mississippi 39236-3429

Tel: 601/366-4343 Fax: 601/981-7608

SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

MELISSA WINTER

APPELLANT

v.

CAUSE NO. 2007-WC-01717-COA

WAL-MART SUPERCENTER. and AMERICAN HOME ASSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The only issue that has been preserved for appeal is whether, under the continuing jurisdiction pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-53 (Supp. 2003), Mrs. Winters established that there was a mistake in determination of fact which would justify further review of this matter. In that Mrs. Winters is seeking to reopen this issue, it is her burden to prove such a mistake. Mrs. Winters attempts to meet this burden by arguing numerous issues which have not been preserved for appeal and, therefore, cannot be considered. This includes a discussion of the employer and carrier's B-31 form filing, employer and carrier's payment of ongoing medical treatment, and the medical treatment itself, based all upon the grounds of estoppel. Mrs. Winters failed to preserve any of these issues on appeal and, therefore, her failure to do so precluded these issues from consideration by this Court.

Even if Mrs. Winters had appropriately preserved the issue of the B-31 form for appeal, it is without merit. Whether or not this Form B-31 was filed properly or improperly does not relate in any way to Mrs. Winters' failure to timely file a completed Pre-Hearing Statement, or her failure to file a motion to reinstate her claim within the twenty days following the initial order of dismissal, which thereby rendered it a final order. Beyond this, the time frame in which Mrs. Winters asserts that the B-31 was required to be filed was erroneous. As such, this argument is wholly and completely without merit and cannot be considered by this court.

The second issue raised by Mrs. Winters, which has not been properly preserved on appeal, relates to payment of ongoing medical treatment. The evidence provided by Mrs. Winters in support of this position shows that one doctor's visit, which took place within the twenty day time frame from the entry of the initial order of dismissal on November 10, 2003, was the only medical

treatment paid for. This fact has no significance whatsoever on Mrs. Winters' own requirement to adhere to the procedural rules and file the required Pre-Hearing Statement which led to the dismissal of her case. In addition, the payment of this one doctor's bill certainly had no impact on Claimant's failure to seek reinstatement within the twenty day time frame from the initial order of dismissal which rendered the dismissal a final order. As such, this argument must be completely disregarded by this Court.

Mrs. Winters was obligated to either file a Pre-Hearing Statement or request a discovery extension at the time that the discovery period expired with the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission. Instead, Mrs. Winters took no action at all. As a result, her case was dismissed. The actions or inactions of Wal-Mart, whether correct or not, are irrelevant to the fact that Mrs. Winters took no action when action was required of her. It is based on Mrs. Winters' own inactivity that the Administrative Judge, upon her own volition, dismissed her case. Mrs. Winters did not seek reinstatement inside the twenty day period following this order. The Order of Dismissal was, therefore, a final Order as of November 30, 2003. The only way this case can be properly reinstated, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-53 (Supp. 2003), is for a showing of a mistake in fact. In her Motion to Reopen and Reinstate and Amended Motion to Reopen and Reinstate and Place on Docket, Mrs. Winters simply references the passing away of her prior counsel. She does not mention any mistake in fact, which would provide for the proper reinstatement of her workers' compensation case. Mrs. Winters has been unable to provide any evidence establishing that a mistake in fact occurred which will allow for reinstatement of this case. In that Mrs. Winters cannot meet this burden, the dismissal of her case must be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

It is well settled under Mississippi law that the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission is the ultimate trier of fact in Workers' Compensation cases. *Tyson Foods, Inc. v. Thompson*, 765 So.2d 589 (¶10) (Miss.Ct.App. 2000), (citing *Pilate v. Int'l Plastics Corp.*, 727 So.2d 771 (¶12) (Miss.Ct.App. 1999). See also Harper v. N. Miss. Med. Ctr., 601 So.2d 395 (Miss. 1992); Day-Brite Lighting Div., Emerson Elec. Co. v. Cummings, 419 So.2d 211 (Miss. 1982). As long as the Commission's decision is supported by the substantial weight of the evidence, it should be binding upon the Appellate Court. Wagner v. Hancock Med. Ctr., 825 So.2d 703 (¶10) (Miss.Ct.App. 2002), (citing Smith v. Jackson Constr. Co., 607 So.2d 1119, 1124 (Miss. 1992)).

The Appellees assert that the denial of the Administrative Judge, affirmation of this denial by the Full Commission, and subsequent affirmation of this denial by the Circuit Court of Union County, of Mrs. Winters' attempt to reopen her claim, on the basis that she failed to demonstrate the requisite mistake in determination of a material fact, is supported not only by substantial evidence, but also statutory mandate and procedural rules, as well as case law, and accordingly, should be upheld and affirmed by this Supreme Court.

- II. THE FINDING OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE, WITH AFFIRMATION BY THE FULL COMMISSION AND CIRCUIT COURT, THAT THE APPELLANT'S CLAIM SHOULD BE DISMISSED IS BASED ON SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND CONTROLLED BY STATUTE, PROCEDURAL RULE AND CASE LAW.
 - A. The only issue that has been properly preserved on appeal is whether a mistake in fact existed under the continuing jurisdiction provision of § 71-3-53; all other issues raised have not been properly preserved for appeal and cannot be considered, but even if considered, are without merit.

The original dismissal Order in this case was entered on November 10, 2003 by Administrative Judge Deneise Turner Lott as a result of Claimant's failure to file a Pre Hearing Statement. According to Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-47 (Supp. 2003), an Order dismissing a claim becomes final when no appeal is taken within twenty days after the date of the Order. Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-47 (Supp. 2003); *Russell v. City of Vicksburg*, MWCC No. 98 04704-G-8395 (June 17, 2003); *Reed v. Horseshoe Casino & Hotel*, MWCC No. 01-13092-H-2608-A (June 18, 2003). In this case, no appeal was sought and the Order became final on November 30, 2003. Once the Order dismissing her claim had become final pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-47 (Supp. 2003), and hence unappealable, Mrs. Winters' only remaining avenue of recourse to reinstate the case was to invoke the Commission's continuing jurisdiction pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-53 (Supp. 2003). *Id.* Specifically, the statute states the following:

Upon its own initiative, or upon the advocation of any party in interest on the ground of a change in conditions or because of a mistake in determination of fact, the Commission may, . . . at any time prior to one year after the rejection of a claim, review a compensation case, issue a new compensation order which may terminate, continue, reinstate, increase, or decrease such compensation or award compensation.

Miss. Code Ann. §71-3-53 (Supp. 2003) (emphasis added).

The only issue properly preserved for appellate purposes is whether a mistake in fact occurred, which would allow for the reinstatement of Mrs. Winters' workers compensation case. However, in her Brief before this Supreme Court, the Appellant attempts to argue additional issues that have not been properly preserved on appeal. This includes issues raised pertaining to the requirement of Employer and Carrier to file a B-31 form, as well as her argument that the lower court's decisions should be reversed on an equitable basis, due to the Appellant's alleged payment of some medical bills after the initial Order of Dismissal was entered at the Mississippi Workers Compensation Commission.

Arguments advanced on appeal must "contain the contentions of the appellant with respect to the issues presented, and the reasons for those contentions, with citations to the authorities, statutes and parts of the record on." M.R.A.P. 28(a)(6). The Supreme Court does not have jurisdiction to hear issues not preserved on appeal. M.R.A.P. 4(a). In discussing the preservation of appellate issues to the Supreme Court, it has been found that issues must be preserved at all levels -"[i]n order to preserve a point for review by the Supreme Court, the point MUST be presented not only to the Commission but also to the Circuit Court..." (emphasis added) Sawyer v. Head, Dependents of, 510 So.2d 472, 474 (Miss.1987); Jackson County Sch. Dist. v. S. Miss. Workers' Comp., 749 So.2d 962 (Miss.1999).

The only issue preserved for appeal is whether the mistake component of § 71-3-53 was satisfied, the satisfaction of which would be required before reversal of the lower court's decisions could be considered. None of the other issues that Mrs. Winters attempts to raise in her brief have been properly preserved for appeal and, therefore, cannot be considered by this Court. Rather, their

presence do nothing but present a red herring to distract the Court from the issues that it is presented with, and has jurisdiction over, regarding this appeal. Any other issues, such as the ones she is attempting to improperly argue before this Court, should have either been raised by Mrs. Winters no later than twenty days after the dismissal of her action by the Administrative Judge, or in her Motion to Reinstate, which was filed on October 27, 2004. At the very least, the arguments she attempts to put forth to this Court should have been raised in her appeal to the Full Commission. Her failure to do so precluded the preservation of these issues for appellate purposes and, therefore, eliminates them from consideration by this Court.

However, even if this Court should find that these issues raised by Mrs. Winter have been properly preserved on appeal and are worthy of consideration, her arguments must fail, as they are without merit. Accordingly, in the event this Court finds any of these issues have been preserved and are properly before it, Wal-Mart will address each and illustrate why they are of no consequence to the issues being considered.

The first issue raised by Mrs. Winter, that has not been properly preserved upon appeal, is the issue relating to Wal-Mart's filing of a Form B-31 with the Mississippi Workers Compensation Commission. Mrs. Winter states that Wal-Mart failed to comply with Rule 17 and § 17-3-37(7) because it had not filed a Form B-31 prior to the Mississippi Workers Compensation Commission's dismissal of this matter on November 10, 2003. Rather, Wal-Mart filed this form on May 26, 2004.

What this Court will notice is that Mrs. Winter does not address how the timing and content of the filed Form B-31 relates in any way to her failure to timely file a completed Pre Hearing Statement; or her failure to file a motion to reinstate her claim within the twenty days following the dismissal Order of November 10, 2003. It also does not establish a mistake in fact, which is the only

way this case can be reinstated pursuant to § 71-3-53 (Supp. 2003). The reason Mrs. Winters does not address this is because any such form B-31 filing did not have, and does not have, any impact on her duty and obligation to adhere to the procedural rules. This includes filing a Pre Hearing Statement at the conclusion of the discovery period at the Mississippi Workers Compensation Commission, or to file a Motion to Reinstate with a completed Pre Hearing Statement within twenty days of the entry of the order of dismissal, as required by § 71-3-47. The fact that a B-31 had not been filed at the time of the dismissal on November 10, 2003 is completely irrelevant to the obligations Mrs. Winters failed to meet.

Beyond the fact that the filing of a B-31 by Wal-Mart is irrelevant to Mrs. Winters' obligation, and failure, to file a Pre Hearing Statement within the procedural time constraints she was required to adhere to, her argument that such a filing was required prior to the dismissal of this action is wholly incorrect. A B-31 is to be filed on a Workers Compensation matter within thirty (30) days after the final payment of compensation has been made. § 71-3-37(7). Up and until the dismissal of her case on November 10, 2003, Mrs. Winters' case was an actively litigated file. Certainly, had the matter proceeded to a hearing, more benefits could have been ordered and/or paid. Wal-Mart would not have been expected, nor permitted, to file a B-31 prior to the dismissal of this action. As such, not only does Mrs. Winters fail to address how the timing and content of the filed Form B-31 relates in any way to her failure to timely file a completed Pre Hearing Statement or a motion to reinstate her claim within the twenty days following the dismissal Order of November 10, 2003; her assertions regarding the requirements of Wal-Mart to file the Form B-31 are completely false. It is for these reasons that Mrs. Winters' issues raised concerning the Form B-31 are wholly without merit and must be completely disregarded.

The second issue raised by Mrs. Winter, that has not been properly preserved upon appeal, is the issue relating to alleged payment of ongoing medical treatment. Mrs. Winters' own brief proves that this issue has never previously been properly raised during the appellate process and, thus, has not been properly preserved for appeal. Mrs. Winters was unable to reference a record excerpt when discussing the medical bills in her brief. Instead, she had to attach the medical documents as Exhibits 1 and 2, respectively, to her brief. This is wholly improper and provides uncontroverted evidence that preservation of this argument has not been maintained. This provides ample proof that this portion of Mrs. Winters' brief has not been preserved and must be completely disregarded.

However, even if this issue had been properly preserved for appeal, it still would not provide any basis for the lower courts rulings to be overturned. Specifically, "Exhibit 1" to Mrs. Winters' brief shows payment was made for an office visit with Dr. Harkey on February 17, 2003. This was a time frame in which Mrs. Winters' case was still active, but was months before her Pre Hearing Statement was due. Payment of this visit can in no way be construed as evidence sufficient to establish that the necessity of Claimant's Pre Hearing Statement was premature. The next indication is for an office visit with Dr. Harkey on November 17, 2003. This visit, which took place during the twenty day period prior to the finalization of the November 10, 2003 dismissal Order, was paid for. A subsequent visit with Dr. Harkey on November 29, 2004 was not paid and, in fact, shows Mrs. Winters as the party responsible for payment. In addition, the prescription receipts attached to Mrs. Winters' brief as "Exhibit 2" offer no indication whatsoever as to who the payor was.

Based on Mrs. Winters' own exhibits, she illustrated that one doctor's visit conducted within the twenty day period following the entry of the Order of dismissal, therefore prior to the Order being

final, was paid for. The payment of this doctor's visit has no impact at all on the obligation she had to properly pursue her claim, which included her obligation to timely file a Pre Hearing Statement when one was due. Mrs. Winters' attempts to rely upon the case of *Broadway v. International Paper*, 982 So. 2d 1010 (Miss. 2008), as it relates to medical payments, has no significance nor probative value at all to the issues before this Court. The *Broadway* case relates to the tolling of the statute of limitations based upon continued payment of medical prescriptions. *Id.* As illustrated, Mrs. Winters' exhibits only show that payment of only one doctor visit within a week of the entry of the dismissal Order was paid for by Wal-Mart. There certainly is no evidence as to the payor source of her prescriptions. Moreover, this appeal does not relate to a statute of limitations issue, which is what the *Broadway* case speaks to. *Id.* As such, the *Broadway* case is completely irrelevant to the issues currently pending before this Court and, like Claimant's whole argument, must be disregarded.

Finally, Mrs. Winters attempts to argue that the lower court decisions should be reversed based on the grounds of estoppel. Again, this argument has not been preserved on appeal and should not be considered by this Court. However, should it be determined that this issue was properly preserved, it, too, has no merit and should be disregarded.

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